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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

AMERICAN BLIND AND WALLPAPER

FACTORY, INC.,, Case: 2:06-¢v-13578
: Assignéd To. Cohn, Avarn
S Referral Judge: Pepe, Steven D

Plamuff,  Filed: 08-10-2006 At 10:27 AM

V. ’ cmp AMERICAN BLIND AND WALLPAPER FA
/ CTORY, INC V. KATZMAN (TAM)

STEVE KATZMAN, C T T

Defendant.

SCOTT A. MACGRIFF (P55864)
DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC
Attorneys for Plaintiff

500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 4000
Detroit, M1 48220

(313) 223-3477

Emall: smacgnffi@dickinsonwright.com

AMERICAN BLIND AND WALLPAPER FACTORY’S MOTION
FOR A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

Plaintiff, American Blind and Wallpaper Factory, Inc. {“American Blind™), by and
through its undersigned counsel, upon the accompanying A (fidavit of Joel Levinc, hereby moves
this Court, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65, for entry of a temporary restraining order and a
preliminary injunction barring defendant, Steve Katzman (“Katzman™ or “Defendant™), and any
;Scrsons acting on Defendant’s behall or at Defendani’s request, from using any of American
Blind’s conﬂdential and proprietary property and information, and requiring Defendant to

immediately return to American Blind all such property and information (the “Motion”).
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In support hereof, American Blind files and incorporates, as if fully restated herein, the

attached Brief in Support of its Molion.

DICKINSON

BY:

Date:  August @ 20006

DETRAIT 24346-K 950061v]

SCOTT A. MACGRIFF (P55864)
Attorneys [or Plaintiff

500 Woodward Avenuc

Suite 4000

Detroit, M1 48226

(313) 223-3477

Email: smacgriff@dickinsonwright.com
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L INTRODUCTION

Deflendant is the former CEQ of American Blind, having resi gned voluntarily on May 18,
2006. In conncction with his tenure as Amencan Blind’s CEO, Defendant signed an
employment agreement which contains provisions forbidding him to use conlidential or
proprietary information obtained while at An‘wrican Blind for his own benefit, or for the bencfit
of anyone other than Amcrican Blind (the “Bmployment Agreement”). (A copy of the
Employment Agreement is annexed as Exhibit A to the accompanying Affidavit of Joel Levine,
dated August 9, 2006 and filed in conjunction with this Motion. The Employment Agreement is
hereby incorporated by reference.) The Employment Agreement also contains a provision
requiring Defendant to immediately return all American Blind property to Amenican Blind upon
his termination. These provisions explicitly survive the term of the Employment Agreement and
Defendant’s employment at American Blind. They also specifically contemplate injunchive
relicf upon any breach of them by Defendant.

When Defendant‘resigned, American Blind executives immediately discovered that
Defendant had taken with him several confidential items of Amecrican Blind’s property, violating
the Employment Agreement. Specifically, Defendant took a proprietary spreadsheet containmg
detailed information about Ametican Blind’s competitors (the “Competitive Matrix"™), as well as
the American Blind employce handbook (the “Employee Handbook™). American Blind bas
reason to believe that Defendant took with him additional proprietary documents and information
which American Blind has yet to identify.

American Blind also discovered that following his resignation, Defendant erased
thousands of clectronic files contained on scveral of American Blind’s computers to Which

Defendant had access during his employment.
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Amcrican Blind also subscquentlyllearricd that Dcfendant has created a new business to
compete directly with American Blind, called Nationwide Blind and Wallpaper Factory
(“Nationwide”). American Blind has good cause to believe that Defendant currently 1s
wrongfully using the Competitive Matrix and the Employce Handbook, violaling ongoing
pravisions of Defendant’s Employment Agteement, in order to help get Nationwide up and
running.

By this action American Blind seeks immediaté roturn of all confidential and proprictary
documents and information wrongfully taken by Defendant upon his resignation. Amencan
Blind also seeks the immediate cessation of any and all usc by Defendant, Nationwide, and
anyone else acting on Defendant’s behalf of American Blind’s confidential and proprictary
information and documents.

IL THE PARTIES

American Blind is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 909
North Sheldon Road, Plymouth, Michigah. |

On information and belief, Steve Katzman is a Michigan citizen and resident who resides
at 6531 Pembridge Hill, West Bloomfield, Michigan.

ML  FACTUAL BACKGROUND

American Blind is the largsst direct-to-customer retailer of window treatments and wall
coverings in the Uniled States. American Blind, through its predecessor companies, has been in
the home decorating business for over 50 years.

Defendant was hired as American Blind’s CEQ in 1998, (Levine Aff. at 4.

On or about June 5, 2000, as a condition of his continued employment as American

References to the accompany Affidavit of Joel Levinc, dated August 9, 2006 and filed in
conjunction with this Motion, are to “Levine Aff. atf_ 7.
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Blind’s CEQ, Defendant entered into the Employment Agreement with American Blind. (Levine
All, Ex. A5
On or about September 18, 2003, American Blind and Katzman renewcd the
Employment Agreement, extending its term through Dccember 31, 2005. (Levine Aff., Bx. B.)
The Employment Agreement contains several provigions forbidding Defendant to, inter
alia, take with him or use any American Blind proprietary information or documenis following
termination of his cmployment at American Blind. (Levine Aff, Ex. A at § 11(a), 11(b).) These
provisions explicitly survive the term of the Employment Agrcement and remain in effect no
matier the circumstances under which Defendant departs American Blind. (/d.)
Specifically, subparagraph 11(a) of thc Employment Agreement provides, inter alia:
Proprietary Information. Executive [Defendant] shall not during
the Employment Term or at any time thereafter (irrespective of the
circumstances  under which Executive’s employment by
Corporation [American Blind] terminates), directly or indirectly,
use for his own purposc or for the benefit of any person or entity
other than Corporation, nor otherwisc disclose, any Proprielary
Tnformation, . . . to any individual or entity, unless such disclosure

has been authorized in writing by the Board or is otherwise
required by law . . ..

(Id. at § 11(a).)
And subparagraph 11(b) of the Employment Agreement provides, inter alia:

Confidentiality and Surrender of Records. Executive shall not
retain, and will deliver promptly to Corporation, any Con fidential
Records following termination of his employment. “Confidential
Records” shall mean all correspondence, memoranda, files,
manuals, books, lists, financial, operating or marketing records,
magnetic tape or electronic or other media or cquipment of any
kind which may be in Executive’s possession or under his control
or accessible to him which may contain any Proprietary
Information . . . . All Confidential Records shail be and remain the
sole property of Corporation during the Employment Term and

2 References to Bxhibits to the Affidavit of Joel Levine are to “Levine Aff.,, Ex. __".
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thereafter.

(fd at § 11(b).)

Beginning on January 1, 2006, pursuant to mutnal agreement by American Blind and
Defendant, Defendant continued to scrve as American Blind’s CEQ on a month-lo-month bass,
receiving the sume salary and benedits as sct forth in the Employment Agreement. (Levine Aff,
Ex. C.)

On Fcbruary 14, 2006, Defendant excouted an Bmployee Hardware Loan Agfecment
with American Blind, which obligated Defendant to return, upon his departure from American
Blind, the company laptop computer and related accessorics that American Blind had furnished
for him, among other things (the “Hardware Agreement”). (Levine AfT, BEx. B.)

At approximatcly 4:30 p.m. on May 18, 2006, Defendant participated in a teleconicrence
in his office along with American Blind’s CFO, Gerald Curran. (Levine Aff. at §11.) At this
time, Mr. Curran observed that various property of American Blind, including files, documents,
records, electronic data, computer files, and other proprictary information (the “Company
Property”) was located in Defendant’s olfice and on two desktop computers in Defendant’s
office. (1d.) |

Later that evening, at approximately 7:33 p.m. on May 18, 2006, Delendant tendered his
resignation to American Blind’s board of dircctors. (Levine Aff., Ex. C.)

The next moming, at about 8:00 am. on May 19, 2006, Jocl Levine, who replaced
Defendant as American Blind’s CEO, entered Defendant’s office and discovered that the
Company Property was missing from Defendant’s office. (Levine AfT. at{13.)

Also on or about May 19, 2006, Greg Ruppert, Amcrican Blind’s vice p-rcsident. of

technical operations, inspected the two desktop computers in Defendant’s office at American
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Blind and discovered that all of the clectronic documents and emails had been erased from them.
(Levine Aff. at ¥ 14.)

Laler that day, on May 19, 2006, American Blind demanded that Katzman return the
Company Property by 5:00 p.m. on May 22, 2000. (L\evinc Aﬂ‘.; Lx D.) American Blind also
disabled Defendant’s access to American Blind’s Virtual Private Computer Network (“VPN”) on
May 19, 2006. (Levine Aff, at9 17.)

On May 19, 2006, Mr. Levine discovered that Katzman had been communicating with
certain vendors and ereditors of American Blind and, on information and helicf, falsely
indicating or implying to them that American Blind was in financial distress. (/d. at¥ 18.)

Mr. Lev.ine also discovered on that same day that following one such communication
" with Defendant, First Data, the company who proccssed American Rlind’s corporate credit card,
placed a “hold” on American Blind’s eredit in the amount of $750,000.00. (Id.‘ at119.)

As a result of First Data’s “hold”, American Blind was forced to secure a loan from
another entityin this amount of $750.,000.00, at an unfavorable interest rate. (/d. at¥ 20.)

On June §, 2006, Defendant informed counsel for American Blind that he intended to

send American Blind a disketle containing 4,368 company-related emails. Defendant also
informed American Blind’s counsel that hc was sending a copy of the diskette to his own
‘ personal altorney, in anlicipation of a possible “dispute aris|ing]” involving the “integnty of the
information” he was retuming. (Levine Aff,, Ex. F.) Katzman also stated in his June §, 2006
email that he was in the process of revicwing “over 15,000” additional clectronic files, which he
had “archived” on his home computer, so that he could remove any of his “personal” items
before sending them back to American Blind. (/d.) |

On June 12, 2006, Irma Kline, Amcrican Blind’s vice president of human resources,
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resigned. (Id. at425.)

On June 12, 2006, American Blind received a diskette from Defendant purpottedly
containing all of Defendant’s business-related cmaiis. (Levine Aff. at 9 26.)

On June 12, 2006, Defendant informed American Blind’s counsel that he was still
working to assemble the electronic files demanded by American Blind, and that he inlended to
return the reqnested files within a weck. (L.evine Aff,, Ex. G.) Defendant acknowledged in his
June 12, 2006 email that he was oblipated by paragraph 11(11) of the Employment Agreement 1o
do so, and that he intended to comply with paragraph 11(a)’s nondisclosure requirements.
(Levinc Aff. at § 27, Bx. G.)

On June 14, 2006, Defendant informed American Blind’s counsel that he was returming
all company electronic files that werc archived on his home computer. (Levine Aff., Ex. H.)

Defendant stated that he had already provided his own personal altorney with a copy of the samc,

again anticipating a “dispute aris{ing] where [sic} the integrity of the information becomes
important.” (/d.) Defendant also slated affirmatively that he would not personally retain a copy
of these filcs, nor would anyone actiﬁg on his behalf access those files for any purpose forbidden
by the Employment Agreement. (Id.)

On Junc 21, 2006, Amecrican Blind’s counsel finally received a disk from Defendant
purportedly containing the American Blind clectronic files which Defendant had archived on his
home computer. (Levine Aff. aty 30.)

As of June 21, 2006, Defendant still had not returned his company laptop computer and

related accessories. (Levine Aff at § 31.) American Blind’s counsel therefore agan
communicated American Blind’s demand that Defendant immedialely return the compuler.

(Levine AT, Ex. 1)
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Defendant then asked if he could keep the computer and pay American Blind “fair market
value” for it. (Levine Aff, Ex. J.) Mr. Levine immediately responded in the negative and again
demanded the laptop’s return. (Levine Aff, Ex. K.)

Thereafler, Defendant finally rcturned the laptop.  When American Blind personnel
inspected the laptop, however, they found that its entire contents had been crased — just as werc
the desktop computers in Defendant’s office. (Levine Aff. at{| 36.)

On July 17, 2006, Defendant sent an email message to the American Blind email account
of Irma Kline, who was no longer with the company. Defendant’s cmail attached a sprcadsheet
containing detailed information about American Blind’s competitors, which spreadshect had
been developed by énd belonged to American Blind (the “Competitive Matrix™), and requested
that Kline add additional information to the Competilive Matrix, (Levine Aff. at ¥ 37; Levine
Aff., Ex. L.)

On July 21, 2006, Defendant sent another eméil message to Kline’s American Blind
email address, this time attaching a red-lined version of American Blind’s cmployee handbook
(the “E111ploycc Handbook™) which contained numerous and substantial edits to the handbook.

: (Levine Aff. at | 38; Levine Aff, Ex. M.) Also on July 21, 2006, Defendant again forwarded the
Competitive Matrix to Kline’s American Blind email address, (Levine AfT. at § 39; Levine AfT,,
Ex. N.)

Inumediately after discovering thesc emai] messages from Defendani, American Blind
conducted a through search of ils computer systems in order to determine the extent of
Defendant’s attempts to Wrongl”ully access American Blind’s proprictary information. (Lecvine
Aff, at 4 40.) American Blind determined that since Defendant’s resignation, 22 separatc

attempts had been made to log on to American Blind’s VPN from Defendant’s Internet Protocol
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address (“IP Address”), using Kline's, Rupprecht’s, and Defendant’s passwords. (Levine Aff. at
140.)

As a direct result of Defendant’s repeated attempts to improperly access American Blind
proprictary information following his resignalion, as weli as Defendant’s deletion of substantial
amounts of data from his company laptop and deskiop computers, American Blind has been
forced to carry out 2 number of company-wide sccurity measures, including comprehensively
evaluating its nelwork integrity and having employses change their passwords. (Levine Aff at
43)

IV. ARGUMENT

A, A Temporary Restraining Order Is Warranted

Inasmuch as it has become clear that Katzman is using American Blind’s confidential and
proprietary information in order to start his competing busincss and there is rcason 1o believe that
Katzman is utilizing othcr yet to be identified confidential and proprety information to the
detriment of American Blind, American Blind sccks a temporary restraining order pursuant {0
Rule 65(h) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

A temporary restraining order is intended to preserve the status gue until there is an
opportunily to hold a hearing on the application for a preliminary injunction and may be issued
with or without notice to thc adversc party. Wright, Miller and Kane, Federal Practice and
Procedure, 2" Ed. 1995, § 2951 p. 253 (footnotes omitted). Furthcrmore, Rule 65(b) provides
that:

[a] temporary restraining order may be granted without written or oral notice to

the adverse party or that party's atlorney only if (1) it clearly appears from

specific facts shown by affidavil or by the verified complaint that immediate and

irreparable injury, loss, or damage will result to the applicant before the adverse

party or that party's attomney can be heard in opposition, and (2) the applicant’s

attorney certifies to the court in writing the efforts, if any, which have been made
to give the notice and the reasons supporting the glaim that notice should not be
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required.

Although a request for an ex parie order requires compliance with these strict
requirements, they “need not be burdensome when there is truly a need to procced ex parte. The
requirements at issuc [under the rulc) _ demand only that the judge issuing the order articulate,
and thus carefully consider, both the need for the restraining order and the need for proceeding
ex parte.” American Can Co. v. Mansukhani, 742 F.2d 314, 325 (7th Cir 1984).

Here, the Affidavit of Jocl Levine demonstrates the need for the TRO. Although
Katzman promised repeatedly that he would return all Company Properly and not disclose
confidential and proprietary information, he has been caught with his hand in the proverbial
cookie jar. He is currently using American Blind’s confidential and proprietary information to -
starl and operatc a competing company. Having demonstrated his intent 1o injure Anlerican
Blind and its business, it is imperative that this Court issue a TRO precluding Katzman (rom

causing even more harm.

B. Injunctive Relief Is Warranted

In considering whether to 1ssue a preliminary injunction, courts weigh four factors: “(1)
the likelihood of plaintiff’s success on the merits; (2) whether the injunction will save the
plaintiff from irreparable injury; (3) whether the injunction would harm others; and (4) whether
the public interest would be served by the injunction.” Superior Consulting Co. v. Walling, 831
F. Supp. 839, 846 (E.D. Mich. 1994); In re DeLorean Motor Co., 755 F.2d 1223, 1228 (6th Cir.
1985). These factors are not “prercquisites”; rather, they “simply guide the discretion of the

cour”, who need only balance them. [n re Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc., 963 F.2d 855, 859 (6th

Cir. 1992).
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1. American Blind will likely suceeed on the merits
of its claim

For purposes of a preliminary injunction, and 1o demonstrate the likelihood of success on
the merils, “it is ordinarily sufficient if the plaintiff has raised questions going to the merits so
serious, substantial, difficult, and doubtful as io make them a fair ground for litigation and thus
for more deliberate investigation.” Six Clinics Holding Corp., I v. Cafcomp Systems, Inc., 113
F.3d 393, 402 (6th Cir. 1997).

American Blind asserts nine substantive causes of action against Defendant: two {or
violation of 18 U.8.C. § 1030(a) ef seq. (the Computcr Fraud and Abuse Act, or “CFAA™); onc
for violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2701 (the “Rlectronic Communications Privacy Act”); two for
violation of M.C.L. § 445.1901 et seq. (the Michigan Uniform Trade Secrets Act, or “MUTSA”);
one {or common-law conversion; onc for tortious interference; and two for breach of contract.
American Blind has shown that it will prevail on each cause of action.

a) Violation of the CFAA

There are several routes for civil claimants to establishing a violation of the CFAA.
Under 18 U.8.C. § 1030(a)(4), a plantiff must show that the defendant (1) knowingly and with
intent to defraud; (2) accessed a protected computer without authorization, or [by exceeding]
authorized access; (3) and t‘hcreby furthers the intended fraud or obtains something worth more
than $5,000.00. 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(4). And under subscetion 1030(a)(3)(A)(D), a plainti [T must
éhow that the defendant (1) knowingly caused the transmission of a prograrm, in’fonnatibn, code,
or command; (2) to a protected computcr; (3) thereby intentionally causing damage without
authotization in an amount exceeding $5,000.00. 18 U.S.C. §§ 1030()5)(A));
1030(a)(5)(B)(). |

American Blind has established its right to recover on both routes under thc CFAA. The

10 ’
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American Blind computers Defendant accessed (both Defendant’s laptop and the two desktop
computers in Defendant’s office) were “protected computers” under the CFAA because they
were “used in interstate or forcign commerce [and] communication.” 18 u.s.C. §' 1030(e)(2)(B).
Defendant intentionally accessed those computers in order to both (a) knowingly and
intentionally defraud American Blind by obtaining proptictary information (i.e., thc Competitive
Matrix, the Employce Handbook, and likely other records); and to (b) knowingly transmit a
program or command sufficient to “erase” the gntire contents of thosc computers. Levine AfT. at
W 15, 34-40; see International Airport Centers, LL.C. v, Citrin, 440 F.3d 418, 420 (7th Cir.
2006) (running a program to erase contents of a computer without authorization violates CFAA).
‘'he damages incurred by American Blind as a result of Defendant’s conduct are already well in
excess of $5,000.00 and continue to climb. Levine Aff. at ] 43. And the economic valuc of the
Competitive Matrix and the Employee Handbook are themselves substantially more than
$5,000.00. Levine Aff. at 9 41. In short, what Defendant has done is precisely the kind of
conduct proscribed by the CFAA, and preliminary injunctive relief is therefore proper.

b) Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2701 ef seq.

Section 2707 of the Elsctronic Communications Privacy Act allows for a private action
by an entity aggﬁeved by a violation of Section 2701. 18 US.C. § 2707. ‘Section 2701 is
violated when a person (1) inlentionally accesses without authorization a facility through which
an clectromic communication service is provided; or (2) intentionally excecds an authorization to
access that facility; and there obtains, alters, or prevents authorized access to wire or electronic
communication while it is in electronic storage in such system. 18 U.S.C. § 2701.

Here, Katzman accessed his laptop and iwo deskiop computers following his resignation
from Américan Blind and (1) took elcctronic files and documents for which he no longer had

access and (2) destroyed stored communications and electronic files by erasing them from the

11
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compulers. Morcover, Katzman made repeated attempts to hack into American Bhind's VPN
from his TP address following his resignation. Although American Blind’s VPN log indicates
that those attempts failed, if any of those attcmpts did succeed, such hacking would constitute a
direct violation of Section 2701.

As noted by the court in Ja re Intuit Privacy Litigution, 138 F. Supp. 2d 1272, 1276 (C.D.
Cal. 2001), “{t]he primary act required for violation of Section 2701 is the.act ol accessing
clectronically stored data. For example a hypothstical ‘hacker’ who accesses data in a computer

»

without the owner’s knowledge would be guilty of violating Section 2701 ....” Kalzman has
exhibited the type of conduct prohibited under this federal statule. Accordingly, American
Blinds is likely to succeed on the rrierits of its claim under the Electronic Communications
Privacy Act.

¢ Violatipn of MUTSA

As with the CFAA, there is more than one way for a civil claimant (o cstablish a violation

of the MUTSA. Under the “acquisition” prong of that siatute, a plaintiff must show that (1) the

defendant acquired a trade secret; (2) the trade secret belonged to the plaintiff; nd (3) the
dcfendént acquired the trade secret with knowledge or reason to know that the acquisition was by
improper-means. M.C.L. § 445.1902(b)(i).

Under the “disclosurc or use” prong, a plaintiff cstablishcs a nght to recover by showing
that (1) the defendant disclosed or used a trade secrel (2) the trade secret belonged to the
plaintiff; (3) the defendant disclosed or used the trade sceret without the plaintiff’s consent; and
(4) that either (a) the defendant used improper means to acquire the trade scerel; of (b) the

defendant knew or had reason to know (hat he or she acquired the trade secrel under

circumstances giving rise to a duty to maintain its secrecy or limit its wse. M.C.L. §

445.1902(b)(ii). Courls can emjoin both actual and threatened misappropriation under the

12
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MUTSA, and they can order any affirmative conduct they deem necessary to protect trade
scerets. CMI Int'l Inc. v. Intermet Int’l Corp., 649 N.W.2d 808, 813 (Mich. Ct. App. 2002).
Ametican Blind has shown that it will succeed under both the “acquisition” and
“disclosure or use” prongs of the MUTSA. The Competitive Malrix and the Employec
Handbooks are certainly “trade scerets” under the MUTSA because they constitute “information,
.. compilation[s}, program([s], device[s], method(s], technique[s], or process[es]” that denve
independent cconomie value both by not being generally known or available by proper means by
others who might stand to benefit from knowing them, and being subject Lo reasonable efforts to
maintain their secrecy. M.C.L. § 445.1902(d); see also, e.g., United Rentals (North America),
Ine. v. Keizer, 355 F.3d 399, 412-13 (6th Cir. 2004) (customer list is a trade sceret under
MUTSA);' Levine AfT. at 4 39, Tt is also indisputable that both the Competitive Matrix and the
Fmployee Handbook were created by American Blind personnel for American Blind’s exclusive
use, and belong to American Blind. See Levine AT, at 141.
Yet Defendant’s July 17-21, 2006 cmails reveal that Defendant was using them for his
own purposcs, without American Blind’s consent. Levine AfT. at 1§ 37-39. Indeed, barely a

month before his July 2006 emails, Defendant affirmatively promised not 1o keep or usc such

American Blind property in that manner. Levine Aff. at 1§ 28-30. It would therefore defy all
logic and reason to conclude that Defendant obtained the Competilive Matrix by anything but

improper mecans, or that he used them with Amcrican Blind’s consent. Moreover, given

3 In. United Rentals, the Sixth Circuit affirmed denial of a preliminary i unction on the

plaintiff’ former employer’s MUTSA claim, but only because there was affirmative
evidence that the people to whom its former president disclosed the customer list (the
former employer in United Rentals pursued its MUTSA claim against a competing
company, but not the former president) decided not to use the list. 355 F.2d at 412-13.
Here, by contrast, Defendant’s own emal mcssages reveal thal he is actively using
American Blind's customer list in conjunction with starting his new company. Levine
Aff. at Y 35-37.
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Defendant’s ongoing promises (as evidenced by the July 2006 emails, the Hardware Agreement,
and the Employment Agreement), it is beyond dispule that Defendant knew the circumstances
undet which he obtained the Competitive Matrix and Employee Handbook obligated him to keep
them secret and limit their usc.* Based on the foregoing, American Blind will likely succeed on
the merits of its claims under MUTSA. See, e.g., ACS Consultant Co., Inc. v. Williams, No. 06-
11301, 2006 WL 897559, #7 (E.D. Mich. Apr. 6, 2006) (preliminary injunction granted against
former employees who “absconded with client emd employee information and would continue to
violatc the terms of [their] employment agrcements, as it appear[ed] they intended Lo usc this
information at clients/competitors™); Superior Consultant Co, v. 'Bailey, No. 00-CV-73439, 2000
WL 1279161, *10 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 22, 2000) (preliminary injunction grantcd against former
cmployee on former employer’s breach of employment agreement and MUTSA claims where
there was “strong circumstantial evidencé“ that former cmployse acccssed “confidential
information about [former employeﬂ that would be of cconomic value to third party compelilors,
.. . [such as] business plans [and] pitched work™); PepsiCo;, Inc. v. Redmond, 54 F.3d 1262,
1269 (7th Cir. 1995) (affirming issuance of preliminary injunction against former employce on
MUTSA claim for threatened misapproprialion where employec denﬁnstrated a lack of
trustworthiness); ¢.f CMT Int’l, Inc., 649 N.W.2d at 813 (inevitable disclosurc doctrine applies
where ex-employer shows more than just “the existence of generalized trade sécrets” and
knowledge of those trade secrets on the part of new cmployer; doctrine not applicable 1f there is
“no cvidence of [former employes’s] duplicity” or a “specific trade secret [ex-employee was)

likely to misappropriate™).

4 Defendant’s lack of candor and eagemess 1o usc American Blind’s properly even as he

promises not o is troubling, to say the least.

14
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d) Common-law conversion

To succeed on a claim for common-law conversion, a plaintifl must show that the
defendant “wrongfully exerted” “any distinct act of domain . . . over [plaintifi’s] personal
property in denial of or inconsistent with the |defendant’s] rights [in that property).” Foremost
Ins. Co. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 486 N.W 2d 600, 606 (1992).

As explained above, the Competitive Matrix and the Employee Handbook are American
Blind’s property. Levine AfE at § 39. Upon his resignation, pursuant to the Employmunt
Agreement, any tights Defendant may have had with respect to them ceased. Following
Defendant's resignation, American Blind and American Blind"s counsel repeatedly informed
Defendant of this fact in numerous cmails, See generally Leving Aff. Defendant even
acknowledged that he had no ongoing rights in any such Amencan Blind property, at least twice.
Levine AT, at 4 27-29. Yel despite these acknowledgements, it is clear that Defendant has been
utilizing the Competiﬁve Matrix and the Employee Handbook, altering them, and ~ more to the
point — adapting them for usc in a new company Defehdant is .slarting to compete with American
Rlind. American Blind will doubtless succced on the merits of its claim for_commmﬁlaw
conversion, and preliminary injunctive relic;f is proper.. See, e.g., Kimberly & European
Diamonds, Inc. v. Burbank, 684 F.2d 363 (6th Cir. 1982) (preliminary injunclion granied on
diamond wholesaler’s conversion claim against lender”).

e) Tortious Interference

The elements of tortious interference with a business expectancy are (1) the existence o la
valid business relationship or expectancy; (2) knowledge of the relationship or expectancy on the

part of the defendant; (3) an intentional interference by the defendant; (4) inducement or causing

3 The Sixth Circuit’s decision in Kimberly applied Kentucky law, not Michigan law, but

the elements of common-law conversion arc nearly identical in cach state. See Kimberly,
684 F.2d al 365-66; Foremost Ins. Co., 486 N.W.2d at 600.

15
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of a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy by the defendant; and (5) damages
resulting to the plaintiff. BPS Clinical Laboratories v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Michigan,
552 N.W.2d 919, 925 (Mich. Ct. App. 1996). A plaintifl can establish a tortious interference by
showing that it has been defamed by the defendant. Fielder v. Greater Media, Inc., LC No. 04-
436195-CZ, 2006 WL 2060404, *4 (Mich. Ct. App. July 25, 2006).

As American Blind's CEO, De\/t\‘cndant had first-hand knowledge of the business
relationships and expcctancies of American Blind. Defendant abuscd this knowledge by
communicating to several of American Blind’s customers, vendors, and creditors and implying
that American Blind was in financial distress. Levine Aff at Y 18. Specifically, Defendant
falsely indicated to First Data thal Amecrican Blind was in financial distress. Id. As a result,
First Data withdrew a significant amount of American Blind’s credil, forcing American Blind to
scek a line of credit elsewhere, at an unfavorable interest rate. Id at Y 19-20, In short,
Defendant intentionally interfered with American Blind’s cxpectancy of its continued credit
relationship with First Data. That credil relationship was terminated and American Blind
suffered financially as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct. Preliminary injunctive reliel is
proper to prevent any further wrongful interference by Defendant. Leach v. Fi ord Motor Co., 299
F. Supp. 2d 763 (B.D. Mich. 2004) (preliminary injunction granted against former employer
where former cxecutive sucd employer for tortious intcrference); see also Faston Sports, Inc. v.
Warrior LaCrosse, Inc., No. 05-CV-72031, 2005 Wi, 2234559 (E.D. Mich. Sept. 14, 2005)
(denying defendant’s motion to dismiss tortious interference ¢laim in advance of heating on
plainti f’s motion for temporary restraining order and preliminary injunclion).

N Breach of Coﬁtruct
The elements of breach of contract under Michigan law arc (1) the existence of a valid

contract between the parties and (2) breach ol a contractual term. American Parts Co., Inc. v
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American Arbitration Ass’n, 154 N.W.2d 5 (Mich. Ct. App. 1967). A valid contract cxists wherc
{a) the parties are competent to contract; (b) the contract covers a proper subject matter; (c) there
is legal consideration; (d) there is mutuality of agreement; and (é) there is mutualily of
obligation. Thomas v. Leja, 468 N.W.2d 58 (Mich, Ct. App. 1991).

There can be no dispute that the Employment Agreement constituted a valid coniract
between Defendant and American Blind. Both parties werc clearly competent to enter into the
contract, and the subject matter of the contract (i.e., the terms of employment of a chief executive
officer) is proper. Legal consideration passed to each party under the coniract: American Blind
received the benefits of its CEO’s services and promises to engage in, and refrain from, certain
conduct in exchange for paying certain stated compensation and benefits. Both parties clearly
apreed to the terms of the contract, and each was obligated to perlorm under it.

Similarly, there can be no dispute that Defendant breached several ongoing terms of the
Cmployment Agreement — sbeciﬁca]ly, the provisions barring Defendant from taking with him
and using conﬁdenti_al' American Blind records and information. See Levine AfF, Ex. A at 4y
11(a), 11(b). Defendant himself actually acknowledged being subject to those terms, sven as he
was in the proccss of violating them. Levine Aff, 19 27-29. As the accompanying Affidavit of
Joel Levine shows, Defendant has taken with him severa) American Blind proprietary records
(fhc Competitive Matrix, the Employee Handbook, and likcly more), and he has also been using
them. Defendant’s actions plainly violate the terms of the Employment Agrcement, and
preliminary injunctive relief is proper.

Moreover, (he Employment Agreement explicitly contcmplates injunctive relicf in the
event of Defendant’s breach of Section 11 of that agreement (and even provides that American

Blind need not demonstrate irreparable harm):

17
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[Defendant] agrees that the covenants contaired in Section 11 of
this Agreement relate to matters which are of a special, unigue and
cxtraordinary character and that [American Blind] cannot be
reasonably or adequately compensaled in damages in an aclion at
law in the event [Defendant] breaches any of thesc covenants of
undertakings.  Therefore, [Defendant] agrecs that [American
Blind] shall be cntitled, as a matter of course, without the need to
prove irreparable injury, lo an inj unection, resiraining order or other
equitable relief from any court of competent jurisdiction,
restraining any violation or threatcned violation o { any such terms
by executive.

Levine Aff, Ex. A at § 11(f)(i). Thus, not only 1s American Blind entitled (o injunctive reliel

under Michigan Law, but Defendant has already agreed, in writing, to that relief.

2. American Blind will be irreparably harmed
absent immediate injuntive relief

Defendant currently possesses proprietary records belonging to American Blind that are
critical to American Blind’s competitive prospects, including, in particular, American Blind’s
Competitive Matrix. Defendant also currently possesses other American Blind documents,
including the Employee Handbook, which was created at considerable expense by and for
American Blind’s personnel, Despite signing, and acknowledging, contractual provisions
specifically barring him from doing so, Defendant is nsing thesc records to the detriment of
Amcrican Blind. Each day that passes with thesc records in Defendant’s possession brings
increased dangers that American Blind’s business will suffer, and its competitive position
compromised. These dangers are also precisely the lype of irreparable harm from which courls
routinely deliver plaintiffs with preliminary inj unctive relicf. See, e.g., Superior Consulting Co.
v. Walling, 851 F. Supp. 839, 847-48 (E.D. Mich. 1994) (harm cmanaling from loss of
proprictary information, which effects the loss of fair competition, puis plaintifl’at a competitive
disadvantage, and is both immeasurable and irreparable).

As sct forth above, and as set forth in the accompanying Affidavit of Joel Levine, the
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vitality of American Blind’s business has been jeopardized by Defendant’s actions. Defendant
has already evidenced a willingness to damage American Blind’s goodwill among varions
customers or creditors by contacting First Data, among others, to falscly indicate that American
Blind is suffering financial distrcss. How many other companies has Defendant contacted to
disparage American Blind? Damaging goodwill works itrcparable harm, and is precisely the
type of conduct warranting preliminary injunctive relief, See, e.g., Merrill Lynch Pierce I'enner
& Smith v. Ran, 67 F. Supp. 2d 764, 778 (E.D. Mich. 1999) (granling injunctive reliel agamst
former employee; noting that goodwill among cuslomers “is an invaluable intangible” and “is
not easily quantified. Given the complexities and uncertainties of developing a client base,
unless injunctive relief is granted now, the impact of defendants’ breaches on [plaintiff] simply
cannot be measured.”): ACS Consultant Co., Inc., 2006 WL 897559 at *7 (“courts regularly have
concluded that there is no adequate remedy al law where trade secrets and confidential
information are absconded because the injuries a former employer suffers in connection with the
loss of its competitive edge are indefinite and speculative.”).

3. Granting the injunction will not harm anyone

“Whether injunctive reliel would causc substantial harm to others centers on the balance
of hardship between the partics.” Superior Consultant Co.,; 2000 WL 1279161 at *12. By this
Motion, American Blind does not seck to harm anyone, and nobody will in fact be harmed by
granting it. To the contrarfy, the only effect issuing injunctive relief would have is to prevent
Defendunt from doing the very wrongful acts he is already contractually barred from doing. See
ACS Consultant Co., Inc., 2006 WL 897559 at *8 (granting injunction, noting that “the
injunctions sought here do not impose substantial harm on the individual defendants because the
injunctions sought merely track the restrictive language of the Employment Agreements.”). Yet

American Blind “would suffer irreparable harm il [Defendant] discloscd [American Blind]’s
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trade secrets or confidential information, . . . [or] used that information to unfairly compete
against [American Blind]. Superior Consultunt Co., 2000 WL 1279161 at *12. Given that
Defendant “voluntarily entered into his Employment Agreement and agreed to the limitations
that [American Blind] now seeks to enforce,” Defendant simply cannot complain about any harm
{hat may, in fact, befall him. ACS Consultant Co., Inc., 2006 WL 897559 at *8.

4. The public interest will be scrved by issuing the
injunction

“Michigan law provides that the public interest 1s promoted in protecting confidential
information and enforcing valid employment agreements.” [d. at *8, citing M.C.L. § 445.774a.
On the other hand, there is no public interest that excuses Defendant’s breaches of the
Employment Agreement, his intentional and wrongful acquisition, use, and disclosure of
American Blind’s confidential and proprietary information, or his intentional and fraudulent acts
in erasing American Blind computers and attempting to “haek” into thc American Blind
computer network. American Blind’s Motion must therefore be granted.

V. CONCLUSION

Defendant has violated various statutes and ongoing provisions of his Employment
Agreement since his resignation as American Blind’s CEO. He has dbne so by unlawfully
destroying American Blind proprietary property, by taking with him and qsing for his own
purposes trade secret and confidential American Blind files, and by interfering with Amencan
Blind's existing relationships with its customers, vendors, and creditors. Every passing day
Defendant possesses and uses American Blind’s Competitive Matrix and Employee Handbook
works continued and increasing harm on American Blind’s goodwill with its cuslomers and its
business prospects with both existing and potcnﬂal customers.  Unless Defendant is ordered to

immediately return all American Blind confidential and proprietary information in his
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possession, and unless Defendant is ordered to immediately siop using American Blind property
he wrongfully took with him when he departed, American Blind will be irreparably harmed.
There is no adequate remedy at law that can compensate American Blind for this harm.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, American Blind, respectfully requests {hat this Court enler a
temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction thﬁt:

(1) Enjoins Defendant from using any American Blind proprictary documents, files,
programs, or other information, including, but not limited to, the Competitive Matrix and the
Employee Handbook, for any purpose;

(h)  Requires Defendant to immediately rcturn to American Blind all copics, including
original copies, in whatever form, of uny American Blind documents, files, programs, or other
information in Defendant’s possession, whether modified ot in original form;

() Requires Defendant to immediately ccase communicating with any American
Blind customers, creditors, or vendors any falsc, defamutory, or otherwise negative statements
concerning American Blind,;

(d)  Requires Defendant to immediately comply fully and completely with
Defendant's ongoing obligations under paragraphs 11(a) and 11(b) of the Employment
Agrecment,

(e) Requires Defendant to immediately provide a list of every document, file, and
program, and all data, which Defendant erased or cansed to be erased from the two dcsktop
computcrs in Defendant’s former office at American Blind and the laptop computer which

American Blind provided for Defendant’s usc while employed at American Blind; and
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(H Awards to American Blind all other, further, and different relief that this Court

dcems just and proper.

DICKINSON W

BY:

SCOTT A. MACGRIFF (P55864)
Attomeys for Plaintiff

500 Woodward Avenue

Suitc 4000

Detroit, M1 48226

(313) 223-3477

Email: smacgriffi@@dickinsonwright.com

Date: August@, 2006

DETROIT 24336-8 950002v1
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ,
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN

AMERICAN BLIND AND WALLPAPER

FACTORY, INC.,
Case No.
~ Plaintiff,
v. Hon.
STEVE KATZMAN, ' TURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendant.

Scott A. MacGnff
DICKINSON WRIGHT PLLC
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 4000
Detroit, MI 48226
Tel: {313) 223-3477
Fax: (313) 223-3598
_Anorneys for Plaintiff

AFFIDAVIT OF JOEL P. LEVINE IN SUPPORT OF
AMERICAN BLIND’S MOTION FOR A TEMPORARY

RESTRAINING ORDER AND PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
COUNTY OF WAYNE ; .

The undersigned, Joel P. Levine, having been duly swom on oath, does depose
and states as follows:

1. My name s Joel P. Levine. [ currently reside at 660 Hemmitage Circle,
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410,

2. 1 was bormn on Janunary 11, 1948,

3. I am the Chief Executive Officer of American Blind and Wallpaper

Factory, Inc. (“American Blind”).
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4. In 1993, Steve Katzman (“Katzman™) became American Blind and
Wallpaper Factory, Inc.’s Chief Executive Officer.

5. On June 5, 2000, American Blind and Wallpaper Factory, Inc. (“American
Blind") and Katzman entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement,
under which Katzman was to serve as CEO [or an additional threc years (the
“Employment Agreement”). (A copy of the Employment Agreement is annexed hereto
as Exhibit A and is hereby incorporated by reference.)

6. Paragraph 11(a) of the Employment Agreement contains a provision
forbidding szmaﬁ from using American Blind proprietary information for his own
personal benefit or for the benefit of anyone other than American Blind without
American Blind’s consent following termination of Katzman's employmertt at American
Blind, and forbidding him to do so while employed at Americun Blind absent his good-
faith belief that doing so is necessary or desirable to fulfill his duties as CEO. (See
Exhibit A atp. 8.)

7. Paragraph 11(b) of the Employment Agreement contains a provision
forbidding Katzman from retaining any confidential American Blind records upon his
termination from American Blind, and requiring him to promptly retum to American
Blind such records upon his termination. (See Exhibit A at p. 9.)

8. On September 18, 2003, Amcrican Blind and Katzman renewed the
Employment Agresment and extended the term of his tenure as CEO through December

31, 2005.
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9. Beginning on January 1, 2006, pursuant to agreement with American
Blind, Katzman continued to serve as American Blind’s CEO on a month-to-month bass,
receiving the same salary and benefits as set forth in the Employment Agreement.

10.  On February 14, 2006, Katzman executed an Employee Hardware Loan
Agreement with American Blind which obligated Katzman to return, upon us departure
from American Blind, the company laptop computer and related accessories that
American Blind furnished for him for business use and communications, among other
thi‘ngs {the “Hardware Agreement”). (A copy of the Hardware Agreement is anncxed
hereto as Exhibit B and is hereby incorporated by reference.)

11. I was advised that by American Blind’s CFO, Gerald Curran, that at
approximately 4;30 p.m., on May 18, 2006, he and Katzman participated in a telephone
conference from Katzman's office at American Blind. Gerald Curran further advised me
that at that time, various property of American Blind, including files, documents, records,
electronic data, computer files, and other proprietary information was located in
Katzman’s office and on the two desktop computers also in his office (the “Company
Property™).

12.  Later that evening on May 18, 2006, Katzman voluntarily resigned from
American Blind. (A copy of the Katzman’s resignation letter is annexed hereto as
Bxhibit C.)

13, At approxiﬁlately 8:00 a.m. on the morning of May 19, 2006, T entered
Katzman’s former office at American Blind and discovered that the Company Property

that was present only the evening before was missing from Katzman’s office.
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14.  On or about May 19, 2006, Greg Rupprecht, American Blind’s Vice
President of Technical Operations, inspected the two desktop computers that were in
Katzman's office at American Blind and were provided for and used by Katzman for
business conmunication and other purposes.

15. - Mr. Rupprecht advised me that all of the electronic documents and ernails
had been erased from the desktop computers.

16.  OnMay 19, 2006, American Blind demanded that Katzman return the
Company Propetty by 5:00 p.m. on May 22, 2006. (A copy of 8. Greenspon’s May 19,
2006 cofrespondence is annexed hereto ag Exhibit )

17. OnMay 19, 2006, Kalzman's access to the American Blind’s Virtual
Private Computer Network (“VPN™) was discontinued.

18. On May 19, 2006, I learned that Katzman had becn communicating with
certain vendors and creditors of American Blind, including, but not limited to, First Data,
Woodland Blinds, and Prestige Manufacturing following Katzman’s resignation from
American Blind. Ibelieve that Katzman falsely indicated or implied to these entities that
American Blind was in financial distress.

19.  On May 19, 2006, [ was also advised that following Katzman’s
communication with First Data, an entity that processed American Blind’s credit card
transactions, that First Data had put a “hold” on $750,000.00 of American Blind’s
‘ransaction receipts, leaving it with a cash shortfall.

20. Az aresult of First Data’s “hold”, American Blind was forced to increase
is borrowings from its lender in this same amount of $750,000.00 and thereupon pay

interest in order to borrow its own money.
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21.  On May 19, 2006, counsel for American Blind sent Katzman a Jetter
demanding that he cease and desist his communications with the vendors and creditors of
American Blind. (A copy of S. Greenspon’s May 19, 2006 correspondence is annexed
hereto as Exhibit E.)

22, Opn June §, 2006, Katzman informed counsel for American Blind that he
was going to send a disk to American Blind containing 4,368 companymrelated e~-maily.
(A copy of Katzman's June 5, 2006 e-mail is annexed hereto as Exhibit F.) Katzman also
informed American Blind’s counsel that he was forwarding to his attorney a copy of the
disk for safekeeping, “in the event a dispute arises where [sic] the integrity of the
information becomes important,” (S‘ee Exhibit F.)

23.  Katzman further stated in his June 5, 2006 correspondence that he was in
the process of reviewing over 15,000 electronic files and documents so that he could
remove any “personal” items before sending them to American Blind. (See Exhibit F.)

24, Katzman also stated in his June 5, 2006 comrespondence that as soon as he
completed his review of the files and documents, he would forward to Ametican Blind a
disk containing all corporate records that he had archived. (See Exhibit F.)

25. On June 12, 2006, Irma Kline, American Blind's Vice President of Human
Resources, resigned from American Blind.

26.  OnJune 12, 2006, American Blind received a disk from Katzman, which
putportedly contained all of the company-related emails.

27. By email dated June 12, 2006, Katzman advised counsel for American
Blind that he was still working to assemble the electronic files and documents demanded

by American Blind, and that he intended to send the remaining files in his possession that



Case 5:03-cv-05340-JF __Document 243-20 Eiled 12/26/2006 ____Paqge 36 of 50

Case 2:06-cv-13576-AC-SDP  Document 3-1  Filed 08/10/2006 Page 35 of 50

week. (A copy of Katzman’s June 12, 2006 e-mail is annexed hereto as Exhibit (5.)
Katzman acknowledged in (his e-mail that he was required, pursuant to paragraph 11(b)
of the Employment Agreement, to return to American Blind all documents and records
his possession containing proprietary information. (See Exhibit G.}

28.  Katzman also staled in his Junc 12, 2006 email that he would maintain the
integrity of the American Blind proprietary information in his possession, and that he

- intended to comply with the nondisclosure requirements set forth in paragraph 11(a) of
the Employment Agreement. (See Exhibit G.)

29, By email on June 14, 2006, Katzman advised counsel for Araerican Blind
that he was returning all company emails and documents that weres archived on his home
computer. (A copy of Katzmvan’s June 14, 2006 e-mail is annexed herelo as Exhibit H.)
Katzman further stated that he had already provided a copy of all such files to his
attorney for safekeeping, “in the event a dispute arises where the integrity of the
information becomes important.” (See Exhibit H.) Katzman also stated that he would
not personally retain a copy of these files, nor would he or anyone acting on his behalf
access information contained in those files for any purpose forbidden by the Employment
Agreement. (/d)

30. On June 21, 2006, counse! for Amenican Blind received a disk from
Katzman purportedly containing American Blind's electfonic files and documents.

31. - Also on June 21, 2006, counsel for American Blind demanded that
Katzman return the American Blind company laptop computer and related accessoties,

which Katzman was required to do under the Hardware Agreement. Ametican Blind’s
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counsel demanded the return of the computer by 5:00 p.m. on June 22,2006. (A copy of
S. Greenspon’s June 21, 2006 correspondence is annexed hereto as Exhibit L)

32. On June 22, 2006, Katzman then inquiréd whether American Blind would
“sell” him the laptop so that he would not have to return it. (A copy of Katzman’s June
22, 2006 e-mail is annexed hereto as Exhibit J.)

33. Iimmediately rejected Katzman’s request and demanded the laptop’s
return. (A copy of my June 22, 2006 e-mail is annexed hereto as Exhibit K.)

34.  Thereafter, Katzman returned his laptop computer to American Bhind.

35, F ollowiﬁg its return, Mr. Rupprecht inspected the laptop.

36.  Following his inspection, Mr. Rupprecht advised me that the entire
contents of the laptop — including all electronic data, documents, and files — had been
erased from it. |

37, OnJuly 17, 2006, Katzman sent an e-mail message to the American Blind
e-mail address of Irma Kline attaching a spreadsheet containing detailed information
about American Blind’s competitors, which spreadsheet had been developed by and
belonged to American Blind (the “Competitive Matrix™), and requesting that Kline add

addi tional information to the Competitive Matrix. (A copy of Katzman’s July 17, 2006‘6-
mail is annexed hereto as Exhibit L.)

38.  OnJuly 21, 2006, Katzman sent another ¢-mail message to Kline's
American Blind email address, attaching a red-lined version of American Blind’s
employee handbook (the “Employee Handbook™) which contains numerous edits to the

handbook and details the emergence of Katzman’s new company (called “Nationwide
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Blinds & Wallpﬁper Factory”). (A copy of Katzman's July 21, 2006 e-mail and the red-
lined handbook attached thereto is annexed hereto as Exhibit M.)

39.  OnlJuly 21, 2006, Katzman again forwarded the Competitive Matrix to
Kline’s American Blind e-mail address. (A copy of Katzman’s July 21, 2006 e-mail is
annexed hereto as Exhibit N.) |

40.  Thereafter, American Blind immediately conducted a thorough search of
its compuler systems in order to determine the nature and quantity of Katzman’s attempts
to access American Blind proprietary information following his termination. American
Blind discovered that 22 separate attempts had been made since Katzman's resignation to
log on to American Blind’s VPN from Katzman's IP address using Katzman's, Kline’s,
and Rupprecht’s ID’s and passwords. (A copy of the relevant portion of American
Blind’s VPN log from this time penod, which reflects these log-on attempts, is annexed
hereto as Exhibit (.)

-41.  The Competitive Matrix and Employee Handbook contain confidential
and proprietlary Ametican Blind information. Both are American Blind property created
by and for American Blind employees, and both are the subject of numerous measures to
keep their contents confidential. The Competitive Mairix is extremely valuable to
American Blind’s operations because it provides a comprehensive and succinct analysis
of American Blind's competitors’ businesses, cnabling American Blind to develop and
implement competitive processes designed to maximize ils own business. 'i‘he Employee
Handbook is similarly valuable because it is the key mechanism through which American
Blind secures jts employees® loyalty and effective work performance. Moreover, all

employees are required to sign a statement agreeing to return the employee handbook to
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the company upon termination of employment. Both the Competitive Matrix and the
Employee Handbook would be immensely valuable to any person or entity who wishes to
compete with American Blind, and they are not available throngh any legitimate channels
to any such person or entity |

42. It is my belief that Katzman acquired the Competitive Matrix and the
Employee Handbook from the company laptop computer and désktop computers he used
while employed at American Blind. It is also my belief that, prior and subsequent to his

- resignation, Katzman has been using the Competitive Matrix and the Employee
Handbook in order to help him create a new business to compete with American Blind,
called “Nationwide Blinds and Wallpaper Factory”. Katzman’s efforts to found
Nationwide are detailed in the first page of the red-lined Bmployee Handbook, which
Katzman has adapted for use in his new company. It is also my belief that Katzman may
possess additional American Blind proprietary records and may be using them to help
create his competing business. Each day that Katzman possesses and uses American
Blind confidential and proprietary information brings increasing danger that American
Blind will lose market share and the goodwill of its customers.

43.  After discovering Katzman's repeated attempts to Jog on to American
Blind’s VPN, American Blind personnel spent considerable hours evaluating its network
and having each and every American Blind employee go through the process of changing
their passwords. These procedures have distracled American Blind’s business and
sapped the productivity of key employees. American Blind estirnates that Katzman'’s -
conduct has already cost the company more than $5,000.00 in lost time and other

resources.
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SWORN 10 before me
~ this ~gﬁh day of August 2006.

M’\ouﬂa ( M
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AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Employment Agreement made this f_)t#:l:y/ of
T LUAL~, 2000, between DECORATETODAY.CCH, ING. a Delaware corporation,
with its principal office at 909 N. Sheldon Road, Plymouth, Michigan, (the “Corporation”),
and STEVEN B. KATZMAN, residing at 10755 Oxbow Lake Shore Drive, White Lake, M}
48388, (the *Executive”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Executive is currently the chief executive officer (‘CEO") of the
Corporation pursuanttothe terms of that certain Employment Agreementdated August 14,
1998, by and between the Executive and the Corporation {the “Original Employment

Agreement”),

WHEREAS, the Corporation desires to secure the continued services of Executive,
and Executive desires to continue to furnish services to the Corporation, on thelerms and
conditions hereinafter set forth; and

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agresment, the Corporation is
entering into that certain Stock Purchase Agreement'with Primus Caphal Fund IV Limitsd
Partnership, Primus Executive Fund Limited Partnership and certain other co-Investors,
for the purchase of Class A shares of the Corporation (the sinvestment”); and

WHEREAS, itis aterm and condition of the Investment that the Executive enter into
this Amended and Restated Employment Agreementuponthe jerms and conditions herein
_contained.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisés and the mutual agreements
hereinafter contained, the panies hereto hereby agree as follows:

. s) _ The Corporation shall employ Executive, and Executive shall
serve the Corporation upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

2, Term. Subjectio the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the term of
Executive’s employment hereunder shall commence on ihe date hereof, (the “Effective
~ Date"), and shall continue until the third anniversary of the Effective Date, uniess earlier
terminated pursuant 1o Sections B, 9 or 10 herein (the “Initial EmploymantTenn")’. Unless
earlier tetminated pursuantto Sactions 8, 9 or 10 the Initial Employment Termn (and each
ong-year extension thereof pursuant to this sentence (each, an “Extended Employment
Term")) may be extended upon the same terms and conditions as set forth herein for
gdditional one year terms hy mutual agreement of the Executive and the Corporation, RO
jater than the ninety {90) days prior 10 the expiration of the Initial Employment Term (or
Extendsd Employment Term, as applicabla). “rhe initial Employment Term and all
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Extended Employment Terms (if any) are hereinafter collectively vefesred to as the
“Employment Term”,

3. Dutigs and Extent of Servige. During the Employment Term, Execuiive
shall serve as CEQ of the Corperation, and shall devote substantially all of his business
time, energy and skill to such employrent. The Executive shall be vested with the duties
and authority that are customarily delegatedto a chief executive officer ofa corporation of
similar size but which are in no event materially less than the respongsibllities, duties and
authority that Executive has as of the Effective Date. The Executive shall report only to,
and be subject to the direction, of the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the *Board™).
 The Executive shall also perform such other specific duties and services of a senior
executive nature commensurate with his position as the Board shall request, including,
without limitation, serving as a senior ufficer and/or director of any of the Corporation’s
subsidiaries.

4. Base Salary. Effectiveas of the commencement ofthe Cotporation’s current
fiscal year and during the Employment Term, the Corpuoration shall pay Executive a base
salary (‘Base Salary™) at a rate of Three Hundred Eighty-Five Thousand United States
Dollars (U.S. $385,000) peranhum, payable inequal bi-weekly instaliments. Commencing
as of January 1, 2001 and at the beginning of each calendar year thereafter during the
Employment Term, the Base Salary shall autornatically increase by Five Percent (5%) of
the Base Salary then in effect, The parties hereto herehy agree that the Executive's Base
Salary shall be reviewed and may be modified by the Corporation’s Compensation
Committee, on not less than an annual basls commencing as of January 1, 2001; provided,
however that in no svent shall the Executive’s Base Salary be reduced from the
Executive’s Base Salary as ofthe Effactive Date and in no event shall the Executive’s Base
Salary be increased by any less than Five Percent (5%) perannum ofthe Base Salary then
in effect.

5. Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Sélary payable to
Executive as-set forth in Section 4 hereinabove, Executive shall also be entitled 1o
incentive compensation as follows: :

(a) Amount. Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual bonus
based upon the attainment of certain performance goals and objectives mutually
agreed upon by the Corporation’s Compensation Committes and Executive and in
accordance with the Gorporation’s Business Plan, as may be approved annually by
the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The bonus amount to be pald to the
Exacutive, including any bonus 10 be paid to Executive for fiscal year 2000, will be
determined annually by the Corporation’s Compensation Committee, Specifically,
such bonus will be paid to the Executive based initially on the Corporation’s ability
to meet fiscal year “Net Revenue” and“EBITDA Financia! Performance Projections”
{"Bonus Targets") as set forth in the Corporation’s Business Plan from year to year,
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive will receive a bonus of not less than
30% of the Executive's then current Base Salary in any fiscal year during which both
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the Bonus Targets are metor exceeded. The Compensation Committea shall have
the authority to pay the Executive a bonus in excess of 30% of the Executive's then
current Base Salary in any fiscal year in which both the Bonus Targets are met or
exceeded.

For purposes of detenmining the Executive's bonus compensation for the
Corporation’s fiscal year 2000, 5/12ths of such bonus shall be based upon 100%
of the Executive's current Base Salary and 7/12ths of such bonus shall be based
upon 30% of the Executive's current Base Salary. In addition, the parties hereto’
further agres that for fiscal year 2000, the Net Revenue and EBITDA Performance
Projections shall be $137 rillion and an EBITDA loss no greater than $5 million,
respectively, subject, however, to review and adjustments by the Corporation’s
Compensation Committee.

()  Certain Defintions. () EBITDA Financial Performance Projections
shall mean the EBITDA (consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization of the Corporation, as determined pursuant to generally accepted
accounting principals in effect from time to time) target for such fiscal ygar
contained in the performance projections prepared and presented by the Executive
and subsequently reviewed and approved by the Board: (i) Net Revenue shall
mean the annua! net sales of the Corporation as determined pursuarit to generally

accepted accounting principals in gffect from time to time.

6. Option Agreements. Concurrently with the execution of this Employment
Agreement, the Executive and the Corporation shall each execute the Amended and
Restated Option Agreement atiached hereto and made a part hereto as Exhibit “A” and the
new QOption Agreement attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit"B" (collectively,
the “Option Agreements”).

7. ecitive Be i

(@) During the Employment Term, Executive shall receive all benefits
which Executive has been receiving priortothe Effactive Date from the Corporation,
and all coverage and/or benefits under any and alt medical insurance, life insurance
and pension ptans and other employee benefit plans of the Corporation generally
made avallable to senior exacutives of the Corporation from time ta time.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall be provided, at a minimum, and at
ho cost to Executive (other than taxes), life insurance of a value not less than four
(4) times the Exacutive’s then current Base Salary and long term disability insurance
in an amount of not lass than the lesser of the current level of disability insurance
provided by the Corporation to the Executive as of the Effective Date or Sixty-five
Percent (55%) of Executive's then current Base Salary (with an exclusion period of
not more than six (6) months and based on an “executive’s pceupation” provision);
provided, however, that the Executive shall be entitied to increase the amount of
such disability insurance up to Sixty Five Percent (65%) of his then current Base
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Salary, at any time during the Term of this Agreement, so long as the premiums to
be paid by the Corporation for such insurance are not disproportionately higher than
the premiums that the Corporation is or would be paying for the Executive's
disability insurance coverage as of the Effective Date. The Executive hereby
represents that he has no reason to believe that he is not insurable at rates
prevailing as of the Effective Date for healthy men of Executive’s age.

(b)  The Executive shall be entitled to four (4) weeks paid vacation (taken
consecutively of in segments), i accordance with the standard vacation policy of
the Corporation for senior executives, in each calendar year during the Employment
Term. Such vacations shall be taken at times consistent with the effective
discharge of Executive's duties. In no event shall Execulive be entitled to accrue
any unused vacation from one year to the next.

(c) During the Employment Term, Executive shall be accorded office
facilities and secretarial assistance commensurate with his position as CEQ of the
Corporatioh and adequate for the performance of his duties hereunder.

8.  Termination - Death or Disability.

{a) Death. Inthe svent of tha termination of Executive's employment
because of the death of Executive during the Employment Term, the Corporation
shall pay to any one or more beneficiaries designated by Executive pursuant to
notice to the Carporation, of, failing such designation, to Executive’s estate! {
accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation owing to the Executive; (ii) a bonus
for the year in which such termination occurs, based upon the prior year's bonus
received by the Executive limes a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of
days in such year prior to and including the effective date of such termination, and
the denominator of which is three hundred sixty-five (365) (the “Pro Rata Bonus"),
(such Pro Rata Bonus fo be paid no later than the fifteerith (15") day of the month
immediately following the month of such termination). Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event that the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of
the Executive’s death prior to December 34, 2000, then the Executive’s Pro Rata
Bonus. shall be deemed to be 30% of the Executive's Base Salary as of the
Efiective Date of this Agreement times the above-stated fraction (“Year 2000 Pro
Rata Bonus™). In addition, while Executive's dependents remain eligible for COBRA
continuation health coverage, the Corporatiofi hall provide them with medicaland
other health benefits by paying the COBRA premiums therafar.

: (p)  Disability. In the event that Executive shall become Disabled (as
hereinafter defined), the Corporation shall have the right to terminate Executive's
employment hereunder by giving him written notice of such termination while he is
«till Disabled. Upon receiptofsuch notice, Executive's employment hereunder shall
terminate. In the event of such termination, the Corporation shall pay to Executive:
(i) the accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation owing to Executive; plus (i) an
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amount equal to the Base Salary that would have been paid to Executive for an
additional period of ong year, commencing as of the effective date of such
termination, if Executive had not become Disabled and had instead continued to
serve through such date, to be paid in equal bi-weekly installments; plus (iil)
Executive’s Pro Rata Bonus, of Year 2000 Pro Rata Bonus, as the case may be, if
any, (such Pro Rata Bonus to be paid no later than the fifteenth (1 5" day of the
manth immediately following the menth of such termination). In addition, while
Executive or his dependents remain eligible for COBRA continuation heaith
coverage, the Corporation shall pay the premiums therefore. For purposes hereof,
»Disabled" shall mean, with respectto Executive, having been physically of mentally
disabled, whether totally or partially, so that Executive has been substantially unable
to perform his material responsibilities and duties hereunder for a consecutive
period of more than six (6) months.

9, T mination for Cause by Cor ration ot Without Good Reason or Non-
Renewal by Executive.

(@)  Termination for Cayse. Executive’s employment hereundar may be
terminated by the Corporation for Cause (as hereinafter defined) upon compliance
with the provisions of Section g(b). In the event that Executive's employment
hereunder shall be terminated by the Corporation for Cause, the Corporation shall
promptly pay to Executive: (i) accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation owing
through the date of termination; and thereafter the Corporation shall have no further
obligations under this Agreement except pursuant fo Section 13 herein. Upon
termination of Executive's employment hereunder for Cause, Executive shall

" nonetheless remain bound by the obligations provided for in Section 11 as and to
the extent set forth therein, For purposes hereof, sause” shall mean: (i) the
Executive’s conviction of, o plea of nolo contendsre to, a felony, (other than traffic
yiolations in which there were no material aggravating factors or vicatious liability
as a result of Executive's position if Executive did not have material knowledge of
the mmatter or if he had such knowledge, he acted upon and In accordance with,
advice of counsel); (il) perpstration by Executive of wilful miscanduct or gross
negligence having a material adverse impact on the business, operations, propernty,
condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Corporation; (iii) the
commission of any crime, as may be determined by a criminal or ¢ivil court of
competent jurisdiction, involving moral turpitude or the commission of any actor
omigsion involving dishonesty, disloyalty or fraud; (iv) reporting to work under the
influence of alcohot or iflegal drugs. the use of illegal drugs (wWhether of not at the
waorkplace) or other willful or repeated conduct causing the Company or its affiliates
or subsidiaries substantial public disgrace or disrepute or economic harm, V) a
material breach by Executive of his obligations pursuant to this Agreement; or (vi)
Executive’s failure to attempt to follow the reasonable direction from the Board, to
the extent that such direction is within Executive's control; provided, however, that
in the event the Board determines that Cause has arisen under Section 9(a)(vi)
herein above, the Board shall be required to first give Executive written notice of
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such action, specifying the pariculars of the action or inaction of Executive, and
Executive shall thereafter be provided with not less than seven (7) days to cure
same (If such breach is reasonably capable of being cured).

(b) Procedurs. Termination for Cause shall be effected only by action of
a majority of members of the Board then in office (excluding Executive and his
designee) at a meeting duly called and held .

()  Termination Without Googd Reason of Non-Renewal by Executive.
Executive may terminate his employment hereunder without Good Reason (a8
hereinafter defined) by providing written notice to the Corporation o such effect
(such termination 1o be effective on the date specified in such notice, which date
shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days after the date of such
notice). If Executive terminates his employment without Good Reason or elects to
not renew his employment hereunder upon the expiration of the Initial Employment
Term or any Extended Employment Term, then the Corporation shall promptly pay
to Executive all accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation owing through the
date of termination, and thereafter the Corporation shall have no further obligations
under this Agresment except pursuant to Section 13 herein. Upon such termi nation
by Executive, Exscutive shali nonetheless remain bound by the obligations provided
for In Section 11, as and to the extent set forth therein.

10. Terminatio d Reason by Executive Witho a -
ancewal by Corj ation.

(a) Temnination for Good Reason. Executive’s employment hereunder
may be terminated by Executive for Good Reason by providing written notice to the
Corporation to such effect {such termination to be effective on the date specified in
such notice, which date shall not be more than sixty (80) days nor lese than thirty
(30) days after date of such notice); provided, however, that the Corporation shall
have a period of seven (7) days to cure the actions or inactions constituting Good
Reason hereunder (if the same are reasonably capable of being cured).

~ Termination for No Reagon. The Corperation shall have the right to
terminate the Executive at any time, for any reason of no reason, provided,
however, that any termination of the Executive by the Corporation, except forCause
as defined herein, shall be desmed a termination by the Corporation without Cause.

(¢) Payment Ifatany time: (i) Executive terminates his employment for
Good Reason; ot (if) the Corporation terminates Executive's amployment without
Cause, or the Corporation elects to not renew Executive’s Employment for any
Extended Term, then the Corporation shall pay to Executive, payable to the
Executive In the same increments as if the Executive were still employed by the
Corporation, following the date of termination, an amount (the “Base Severance
Amount”) equal to the greater of! (aa) the Executive’s Base Salary then in effect
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through the end of the then current Employment Term (without giving effect to
Executive’s termination); or {(bb) the sum of the Executive's then current Base
Salary for a period of one year plus the Executive’s Pro Rata Bonus (or Year 2000
Pro Rata Bonus, as the case may be) plus an amount equal fo the Bonus paid to
the Executive in the year prior to such termination. In addition, the Corporation shall
pay to Executive: (cc) accrued but unpaid Base Salary and vacation which shall be
paid through the date of such termination); plus (dd) the Corporation shall provide
to Executive and his dependents, until the earlier of the date upon (which Executive
obtains new employment or the first anniversary of the date of termination of
Executive's employment with the Corporation, all medical, life, dental and other
insurance coverage provided to Executive pursuent to Section 7, as of the date of
such termination (the *Residual Insurance Amount?). Netwithstanding the foregoing,
nothing herein contained shall be construed to limit Executive's COBRA rights
thereafter. : _

(d) Change of Control. Notwithstanding anything set forth in Section
10(c), if the Corporation terminates Executive without Cause or elects not to rensw
Executive's Employment Agreement for any Extended Term, or if the Executive
terminates his employment for Good Reason, each upon the occurrence of a
change of control then the Corporation shall pay (or pravide, as the case may be),
{0 Executive, the same Severance Payment due to Executive as set forth in Section
10{c) hereinabove.

in addition, in the event that the Executive terminates his Employment for
Good Reason, of is terminated by the Corporation without Cause ar the Corparation
declares its decision not to renew the Executive's Employment Agreement upon
such Change of Control and in the gvent that upon or as-a result of such Change
of Control, the Gorporation's Class A Shareholders receive cash or unrestricted
stock at or above the lavels set forth below, the Executive shall also receive an
additional bonus, payable in a8 lump sum not less than 10 days after the effective
date of such Change of Control, in an amount equal to One Million, Two Hundred
Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($1 200,000.00) the {*Change of Control Bonus?). In
order for the Executive to receive the Changs of Control Bonus, the Corporation
must recelve cash or untestricted stock at or above the following levels (after glving
effect to the Change of Control Bonus).

: (i)- May 31,2000 - May 30, 2001, the price pershare Is equal to
a 3x return to the Class A Shareholders;

(i)  May 31, 2001 - May 30, 2002, the price per Share is equal to
a 4x return to the Class A Shargholders. S

i (i)  May 31, 2002 - May 30, 2005, the price per Share is equél to
a 5x return to the Class A Shareholders, .
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(e)  Certain Definitions.

() “Change of Conirol* shall mean (aa) the acquisition by any
person or entity, directly or indirectly, of more than Fifty Percent (50%) of the
comimon stock of the Corporation of otherwise more than Fifty Percent (50%)
of the voting control of the Corporation; {bb) the sale of all or substantially all
aof the assets of the Gorparation to such person or entity; or (cc) the merger
or consolidation of the Corporation with or into such person or entity.

() *GoodReason”shallmeanany of the following events after the
Corporation’s receipt from Executive of written notice thereof and the
Corporation’s failure to cure same within seven (7) days after its
receipt of such notice:

(aa) Executive shall be removed from the position of
GEO at any time during the Employment Term (other than for
Cause or due to death or Disability);

(bb) Executive shall fail to be vested with the powers
and authority of CEQ of the Corporation as described in
Section 3, of the title, powers and authority of such position or
his responsibilities with respect thereto shall be diminished in
any material respect;

(cc)  the Corporation ghall have assigned to Executive,
without his express written consent, any duties, functions,
authority or responsibilities that are materially Inconsistent with
Executive's positions described in Section 3,

(dd) Executive's principal place of employment is
changed to a location outside of the Detroit, Michigan
metropolitan area. :

(ee) the Corporation shall reduce Executive's then-
current Base Salary or the benefits available to Executive as
of the Effective Date pursuant to Sections 4and7;or

(f) the Executive is not offered employment by any
acquirer of the Corporation upon similar economic and equity
terms as the Executive has immediately prior to a Change of
Contral. ' '

) Survival. Without liriting other sactions herein intended by theirterms
to survive Executive's termination of employment, upon any tarmination of
Executive’s employmient pursuant o this Section 10, Executive shall nonetheless
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remain bound by the obligations provided for in Section 11, as and to the extent set
forth therein.

11. Non-disclosure of Proprietary Information; Confidentiallty _and
Surrender of Records: Inyentions and Patents; Non-Compete.

(a) Propriefary Information. Executive shall not during the Employment
Term or at any time thereafter (imespective of the circumstances undar which
Executive's employment by Cuorporation terminates), directly or indirectly, use for his
own purpose or for the benefit of any person or entity. other than Corporation, nor
otherwise disclose, any Proprietary infarmation, (as hereinafier defined), to any
individual or entity, uniess such disclosure has been authorized in writing by the
Board or Is otherwise required by law, of while employed by the Corporation,
Executive, in good faith, believes that such disclosure is necessary or desirable in
the fulfillment of his duties. “Proprietary information” shall include, but is not limited
to,: (@) the name or address of any customer, vendor or affiliate of Corporation or
any information congerning the transactions or relations of any customer, vendor or
affiliate of Corporation with Corporation; (b) any information concerning any product,
technology or procedure being developed, tested or employed by Corporation but
not generally known 1o its customers, vendors of competitors; (c) any information
relating to Corporation's computer software, computer systems, pricing or marketing
methods, sales margins, cost of goods, cost of material, capital structure, operating
results, borrowing arrangements or business plans; (d) any confidential information
belonging to customers, vendors or affiliates of Corporation which Corporation has
agreed, in writing, to hold in confidence and has so notified Executive in writing; (e)
any inventions, innovations or impravements covered by Section 11(c); (f) any other
information which is confidential or proprietary; and (g) all written, graphic and other
material relating to any of the foregoing. However, Proprietary Information shall not
include any information that is or becomes generally known to the industries in
which the Corporation competes through sources other than improper disclosura by
Executive. 1t shall also not include Executive’s knowhow and gensral knowledge
about the sale through “800 numbers” or aver the Internet of any wallpapet, blinds
or other window treatments and wall coverings, or any other business in which the
Corporation is actively engaged in at the time of termination of Executive's
employment with the Corporation.

() Confidentiality and Surrender of Records. Exacutive shallnotretain;
and will deliver promptly 1o Corporation, any Gonfidential Records following
termination of his employment. “Confidential Records” shall mean all
correspondance, memoranda, files, manuals, books, lists, financial, operating or
marketing records, magnetic tape or electronic or other media or equipment of any
kind which may be in Executive’s possession or under his control or accessible {0
him which contain any Proprietary information, but not Executive’s rolodex or similar
phone directories. All Confidential Records shall be and remain the sole property
of Corporation during the Employment Term and thereafter.
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